1958

Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Structural Steel & Forge Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Railroad commenced these actions in the District Court of the Third Judicial District against appellant for money allegedly due under contracts of rail carriage. Appellant is engaged in the business of fabricating structural iron and steel. The dispute involves construction of a “fabrication in transit” tariff filed by the Railroad (Union Pacific Tariff 7188-P).

This tariff, as all plaintiff’s tariffs, was originally drafted by the Tariff Bureau of the Union Pacific. Sub-

sequent revisions of a tariff are shown by a letter after the original tariff. The letter "P" in this tariff number shows that it is at least the sixteenth revision of this particular tariff. After being drafted by a Railroad a tariff is filed with the Interstate Commerce Commission which reviews it only to see if it has complied with certain technical requirements as to form. If no objections are made by shippers within thirty days from the date of filing with the Commission, the tariff becomes effective. No objections were made to the particular tariff.

The fabrication in transit tariff gives fabricating industries located at specified stations along the Union Pacific which receive, fabricate and then reship steel and iron products the lower through-rate (plus nominal handling costs) from the original point of departure of the unfabricated materials to their ultimate destination, rather than charging the fabricator the two more expensive short-haul rates into and out of the fabricating point. One of the results of such a tariff is to place Intermountain manufacturers in a more competitive situation with relation to manufacturers located either where steel originates or where the final shipment terminates.

This tariff is not what may be called a rate tariff (i.e., one establishing rates and charges for the transportation of particular classes of commodities). The tariff in dispute merely attempts to define the factual situations which must apply and the procedures which must be followed before a shipper will be entitled to the lower through-rate which rate is established for the various articles shipped by separate through-rate tariffs) as

opposed to the higher charges resulting from separate short-haul rates from origin to transit point and from transit point to final destination. The Railroad contends that the facts surrounding each of the shipments in question do not meet the conditions of the fabrication-in-transit tariff. The defendant shipper contends they do. The shipper does not contend here that the rates (either through-rate or short-haul) are unreasonable nor that improper classification of particular articles in the various shipments has resulted in the shipper improperly being charged too high a rate. The sole dispute is as to the application of Tariff 7188-P to particular operations of the defendant. For example, there is a dispute as to construction of the words "fabricate" and "rework," the Railroad contending that certain procedures followed by defendant do not qualify as "fabrication" or "reworking" within the meaning of the tariff. If the tariff is construed as allowing the procedures followed by defendant with regard to the particular shipments in question, the defendant is entitled to the through-rate and the Railroad's claims are invalid.

The record does not show whether the Railroad *ex parte* sought the assistance of the Interstate Commerce Commission before bringing these actions; it does show that the actions had been at issue for more than a year when the plaintiff Railroad petitioned the District Court "for continuance and referral to the Interstate Commerce Commission", alleging that the doctrine of "primary jurisdiction" enunciated in *United States v. Western Pac. R. Co.*, 352 U.S. 59, 77 Sup. Ct. 161,

1 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1956), was applicable to this case (R. P. 37-38). The petition asked that the court hold in abeyance the trial until five specific questions set forth in plaintiff's petition involving the construction of Tariff 7188-P "had been submitted to and determined by the Interstate Commerce Commission". The petition further asked the court to order plaintiff to institute a proceeding before the Interstate Commerce Commission but to retain jurisdiction "for all purposes".

On November 13, 1957, the Honorable Merrill C. Faux executed an order that the five questions set forth in the Railroad's petition be submitted to the Interstate Commerce Commission "for answer and determination by that body". The order further provided:

"IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the above numbered causes be held in abeyance, and they are hereby continued to permit a determination by the Interstate Commerce Commission of the issues of fact involved herein.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Commission make such further report and determination on the issues of tariff interpretation and issues of fact as it may deem necessary or advisable for the further information of the court.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that said proceedings be instituted before the Interstate Commerce Commission within thirty days from the date of this order.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a certified copy of this order be filed in the proceedings to be instituted before the Interstate Commerce Commission.

“The court hereby retains jurisdiction of said causes for all purposes.”

Defendant then petitioned for an intermediate appeal of this order of referral, and on April 22, 1958 this court granted the appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE RAILROAD ^{IS} ~~IN~~ USING THE UTAH COURTS AS A DEVICE TO GAIN ACCESS TO A BODY OTHERWISE INACCESSIBLE TO IT.

POINT II.

THE RECORD IS NOT CLEAR AS TO WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IS ASKING THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION TO DECIDE THE CASE OR GIVE ADVICE.

POINT III.

THE DOCTRINE OF PRIMARY JURISDICTION DOES NOT ARISE AND DOES NOT APPLY IN THIS CASE.

- (a) The history of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction.
- (b) Analysis of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction shows it does not arise in the instant case.
- (c) Even if the doctrine of primary jurisdiction did arise, it is not applicable in this case.

POINT IV.

THE SOLE ISSUE IS WHETHER THE COURTS OF THIS STATE WISH TO ABDICATE VOLUNTARILY SOME OF THEIR JURISDICTION AND WHETHER THEY CAN DO THIS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE RAILROAD ^{IS} ~~IN~~ USING THE UTAH COURTS AS A DEVICE TO GAIN ACCESS TO A BODY OTHERWISE INACCESSIBLE TO IT.

This is an action for breach of contract of carriage brought by a carrier against a shipper. The Railroad could have brought this action in either of two forums—either the United States District Court, *Berstein Bros. Pipe & Machine Co. v. Denver & R. G. RR. Co.*, 193 F. 2d 441 (10th Cir. 1951), or the Utah District Court. One thing is certain: *the Railroad could not have initiated this action before the Interstate Commerce Commission.*

The Interstate Commerce Act gives shippers certain rights to make complaint to the Commission against a carrier (49 U.S.C.A. Sec. 9 and Sec. 13) but the carrier is given no right under that act to commence any action against a shipper before the Interstate Commerce Commission.

But in this case the Railroad seeks to have its claim determined by the Interstate Commerce Commission, a right not given it by the Interstate Commerce Act. It seeks to do this, strangely enough, by commencing its action in the state court and by invoking the doctrine of “primary jurisdiction.” By this wondrous phrase, a plaintiff seeks to switch forums in midstream, and by bringing suit in one forum, to end up in the very forum that it could never have reached if it had tried to reach

it directly. The Railroad, a modern Perseus, cannot reach the Gorgon's head by looking directly at it, but by using the state court as a mirror, seek to attain its goal.

This case is unique. To appellant's knowledge there are no cases extant ruling on the questions posed here. It is also a significant case, as it deals with the construction of a tariff which has a direct bearing on the competitive situation of all Intermountain fabricators.

POINT II.

THE RECORD IS NOT CLEAR AS TO WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IS ASKING THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION TO DECIDE THE CASE OR GIVE ADVICE.

Appellant has not been able, and is yet unable, to ascertain the role in which the instant Order casts the Interstate Commerce Commission. Are its determinations, which under the Order are unlimited in nature or scope, to bind the court?, or are they only advisory, to be accepted or rejected in the discretion of the court?, or both? The record and Order will support either theory. The appellant is unable to resolve the ambiguity.

The petition by which appellee asked for the order cited the *Western Pacific* case, *supra*. It stated that the action "presents a situation analogous to that dealt with in *Western Pacific*" (r.p. 37). *Western Pacific*, as will be noted hereafter, is a "primary jurisdiction" decision. The petition further asked that certain questions be submitted "by appropriate administrative procedure to the Interstate Commerce Commission for *determination* (r.p. 38, emphasis supplied). The cited ver-

bage leads appellant to believe that the Commission's findings are to be determinative. This belief is reinforced by the Order's language: that five specified questions "be submitted to the Interstate Commerce Commission for answer and determination by that body" (r.p. 42).

Other language, however, clouds the issue. The petition recites that the reference is "to assist this court in the determination of the issues" (r.p. 38). The Memorandum Decision states that, "Primary jurisdiction of that cause is in the Utah District Court" (r.p. 40), and the order requires that the Commission's report extend to "tariff interpretation" (r.p. 43), a subject matter, as will be seen, that is clearly for the courts. Taken alone, the quoted portions would lead appellant to believe that the Commission is to act as "a sort of master".

The mischief of the Order is apparent. Appellee will be able to argue to the trial court that any finding of the Commission favorable to appellee is conclusive. If, however, any answer is unfavorable, appellee will argue that it is merely advisory.

Certainly the Railroad should make clear which position it is taking. However, it is appellant's contention that neither reason would justify referral in this case.

POINT III.

THE DOCTRINE OF PRIMARY JURISDICTION DOES NOT ARISE AND DOES NOT APPLY IN THIS CASE.

(a) The history of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction.

To understand completely the issue here, it is first

necessary to review the doctrine of primary jurisdiction upon which the Railroad relies.

This doctrine is a common law development of the United States Federal Court system. In state courts little mention is made of it. Some states, in meeting similar problems, have reached similar results, while other state courts have expressly repudiated the doctrine. 42 A.M. JUR., *Public Administrative Law*, § 254, at 701. See this brief, *infra*, pp. 24-32.

“The fountainhead from which the entire primary jurisdiction doctrine flows is *Texas & Pacific R. Co. v. Abilene Cotton Oil Co.*,” 204 U.S. 426, 27 S. Ct. 350, 51 L. Ed. 553 (1907) DAVIS ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, 665 (1951). That case was one where a shipper, without resorting to the Interstate Commerce Commission, attempted to recover damages in a Texas state court from the Railroad for allegedly excessive charges for the transportation of freight. The shipper based his action on Section 9 and Section 22 of the Act. Section 9 provided in part:

“That any person or persons claiming to be damaged by any common carrier subject to the provisions of this act may either make complaint to the Commission as hereinafter provided for, or may bring suit in his or their own behalf for the recovery of the damages for which such common carrier may be liable under the provisions of this act, in any district or circuit court of the United States of competent jurisdiction; but such person or persons shall not have the right to pursue both of said remedies, and must in each case elect which one of the two methods of

procedure herein provided for he or they will adopt . . .”

Act to Regulate Commerce, c. 104, § 9, 24 STAT.
382 (1887)

Section 22 expressly stated that:

“Nothing in this act contained shall in any way abridge or alter the remedies now existing at common law or by statute, but the provisions of this act are in addition to such remedies . . .”

Act to Regulate Commerce, c. 104, § 22, 24 STAT.
387 (1887)

The shipper relied on what was, from the legislative history of the Act, the unequivocal legislative intention that the courts should have original jurisdiction of some matters that might also be within the Commission’s province. See Convisser, *Primary Jurisdiction: The Rule and Its Rationalizations*, 65 YALE L. J. 315 at 317-328 (1956).

The trial court, while finding the rate in question unreasonable and excessive, nevertheless held that since the rate had been filed with the Interstate Commerce Commission it was the rate “established under the Interstate Commerce law” and gave judgment to the Railroad. The Texas Court of Civil Appeals reversed, *Abilene Cotton Oil Co. v. Texas & Pac. R. Co.*, 38 Tex. Civ. App. 366, 85 S. W. 1052 (1905). The Texas Appellate Court stated the issue as “whether in a state court a shipper in cases of interstate carriage can, by the principles of the common law, be accorded relief from unjust and unreasonable freight rates extracted from him, or

shall relief in such cases be denied merely because such unreasonable rate has been filed and promulgated by the carrier under the Interstate Commerce Act?", *Id.* at 368, 85 S.W. at 1053. The court found the answer in the common law right of action which it ruled had been preserved by the Act.

Mr. Justice White, speaking for a unanimous United States Supreme Court, reversed, holding that under what is now known as the Interstate Commerce Act a shipper seeking reparations from a railroad for excessive freight charges must "primarily invoke redress through the Interstate Commerce Commission." *Texas & Pac. R. Co. v. Abilene Cotton Oil Co.*, *supra* at 448.

The decision has not been without strong criticism. Davis terms it "one of the outstanding examples in all Supreme Court history of 'interpretation' which leads to a result diametrically opposed to clear and unambiguous statutory language," DAVIS *supra* 665. Another analyst has stated, "It did violence to the plain statutory language and purpose, ignored the legislative history and rested upon reasoning mainly notable for its comfortable insulation from reality." Convisser, *supra* at 316.

The doctrine has been applied by Federal courts from time to time since then, both in dealing with the Interstate Commerce Commission and with the National Labor Relations Board and most recently in the field of Federal anti-trust litigation; see, for example, von Mehren, *The Anti-trust Laws and Regulated Industries*;

The Doctrine of Primary Jurisdiction, 67 HARV. L. REV. 929 (1954).

The early rationale for such decisions was based upon the purported desire for uniformity, but later the reason given for invocation of the doctrine was the expertise of the administrative board in question. Nevertheless, as the United States Supreme Court stated in the *Western Pacific* case:

“No fixed formula exists for applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. In every case the question is whether the reasons for the existence of the doctrine are present and whether the purposes served will be aided by its application in the particular litigation.” *United States v. Western Pac. R. Co.*, *supra*, at 64.

Section 22 of the Interstate Commerce Act was not completely emasculated by the *Abilene* case. In *Pennsylvania R. Co. v. Puritan Coal Min. Co.*, 237 U.S. 121, 35 Sup. Ct. 484, 59 L. Ed. 867 (1915) a shipper brought suit in the Pennsylvania state court against the railroad for damages caused by the carrier's failure to furnish cars for the transportation of coal. The railroad moved to dismiss because the state court was without jurisdiction. Both the trial court and the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that the state court did have jurisdiction, and affirmed judgment against the carrier. The United States Supreme Court affirmed. That court held that while Section 9 standing alone might be construed as giving exclusive jurisdiction to either federal courts or agencies, this section was modified by Sec. 22, which

preserved all pre-existing common law and statutory remedies. In construing the Act as a whole, and citing the *Abilene* case, the court said:

“It did not supersede the jurisdiction of state courts in any case, new or old, where the decision did not involve the determination of matters calling for the exercise of the administrative power and discretion of the Commission, or relate to a subject as to which the jurisdiction of the Federal courts had otherwise been made exclusive.” (*Id.*, at 130, emphasis added)

The court made the sound distinction between an attack on a rule of practice itself (where the question of its fairness lay primarily within the judgment and discretion of the Commission), and an attack on the manner in which the carrier’s rule is enforced, where “there is no administrative question involved” *id.*, at 131-32. The court pointed out that rather than attack the rule, the plaintiff-shipper had “relied on the carrier’s own rule as evidence” *id.*, at 134, which of course is what appellant is doing in the instant case. Clearly, therefore, state courts still have jurisdiction of such cases.

The landmark cases set forth the limits of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction at the present time in the Federal courts. In *Great Northern Ry. Co. v. Merchants Elevator Co.*, 259 U.S. 285, 66 L. Ed. 943, 42 Sup. Ct. 477 (1922), the doctrine was not applied. This was a case commenced by the shipper against the carrier in a state court in Minnesota for an alleged overcharge. The issue was whether the Railroad was entitled to

make a charge for reconsignment of corn while en route. This turned on an interpretation of the tariffs which governed the contract of carriage. Mr. Justice Brandeis pointed out that in cases where a rate which was already fixed and agreed upon as being applicable was attacked as unreasonable or unjustly discriminatory, there must be preliminary resort to the Commission.

“But what construction shall be given to a railroad tariff presents ordinarily a question of law which does not differ in character from those presented when the construction of any other document is in dispute.” *Id.*, at 291.

The United States Supreme Court in that case held that the issues were properly within the jurisdiction of the Minnesota state court. In that case Brandeis rather effectively does away with the uniformity argument stating:

“The contention that courts are without jurisdiction of cases involving a disputed question of construction of an interstate tariff, unless there has been a preliminary resort to the Commission for its decision, rests, in the main, upon the following argument: The purpose of the Act to Regulate Commerce is to secure and preserve uniformity. Hence, the carrier is required to file tariffs establishing uniform rates and charges, and is prohibited from exacting or accepting any payment not set forth in the tariff. Uniformity is impossible if the several courts, state ~~and~~ Federal, are permitted, in case of disputed construction, to determine what the rate or charge is which the tariff prescribes. To insure uniformity

the true construction must, in case of dispute, be determined by the Commission.

“This argument is unsound. It is true that uniformity is the paramount purpose of the Commerce Act. But it is not true that uniformity in construction of a tariff can be attained only through a preliminary resort to the Commission to settle the construction in dispute. Every question of the construction of a tariff is deemed a question of law; and where the question concerns an interstate tariff, it is one of Federal Law. If the parties properly preserve their rights, a construction given by any court, whether it be Federal or state, may ultimately be reviewed by this court, either on writ of error or on writ of certiorari; and thereby uniformity in construction may be secured. Hence, the attainment of uniformity does not require that in every case where the construction of a tariff is in dispute, there shall be a preliminary resort to the Commission.”
Id. at 290-91.

In *Texas & P. Ry. Co. v. American Tie & Timber Co.*, 234 U.S. 138, 58 L. Ed. 1255, 34 Sup. Ct. 885 (1914), the doctrine of primary jurisdiction was applied. There the shipper had a contract with the Union Pacific to furnish it railroad cross-ties, and it claimed that the Texas-Pacific Railroad wrongfully refused to haul them. There was no tariff specifically covering cross-ties, but there was a tariff for “lumber, all kinds”, which the shipper claimed was applicable to its cross-ties. Thus the case was a dispute as to classification of a particular article. There the shipper, prior to commencement of its action against the carrier in the Federal court, had

made complaint to the Interstate Commerce Commission. Then as the Supreme Court said:

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