1958

Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Structural Steel & Forge Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellant, we submit, is in error in its analysis of the basic nature of the doctrine. (App. Br. 18-20.) It is there asserted that primary jurisdiction involves an initial concurrent jurisdiction between the administrative and judicial forums, and since the Railroad has no right to commence its initial action before the Commission, as contrasted to a shipper given the alternate recourse to the Commission or the federal court under Section 9 of the Act (49 U. S. C. A. Sec. 9), there is no initial concurrent jurisdiction and thus the doctrine does not come into play. The premise for appellant's conclusion is a statement by Davis, *supra*, at 664:

“Questions of primary jurisdiction arise only when the statutory arrangements are such that administrative and judicial jurisdiction are concurrent for the initial decision of some questions.”

An examination of Davis' analysis of Primary Jurisdiction (pp. 664-675), from which this statement was taken, reveals its proper meaning. It is merely to distinguish and contrast the doctrine of primary jurisdiction from other doctrines involved in the division of functions between the courts and administrative agencies, notably, exhaustion of administrative remedies. The latter controls the timing of judicial relief from agency action, and jurisdiction is in a single forum at all times. Primary jurisdiction, on the other hand, is not concerned with judicial review but decides whether the initial determination of some questions should be by the court in which the action was commenced and is pending or by the appropriate administrative agency. Thus there must be concurrent jurisdiction both in the court and the agency to hear and decide

certain questions in a given field, such as interstate commerce, but once the determination is made that the agency should make the decision of certain questions, its jurisdiction is exclusive.

Appellant has also applied the concurrent aspect of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction prematurely. The determination of whether the court or the agency should make the initial decision is not considered until after the original claim is cognizable in a court of general jurisdiction. *United States v. Western Pac. R. Co.*, *supra*, at 64.

The reference by appellant to Section 9 of the Act as an example of concurrent administrative and judicial jurisdiction between the Commission and the federal courts in the case of a shipper commencing the action, is also in error. That section merely gives a shipper alternative remedies in "suit(s) * * * for the recovery of the damages for which * * * (a) common carrier may be liable under the provisions of this chapter," (49 U. S. C. A., Sec. 9) and a shipper cannot file his action in the federal court under Section 9 where his claim for damages necessarily involves a question of reasonableness, calling for the exercise of the Commission's exclusive primary jurisdiction. *United States v. Interstate Commerce Commission*, 337 U. S. 426, 69 S. Ct. 1410, 93 L. Ed 1451 (1949) ; *Feinstein v. New York Central Railroad Co.*, 159 F. Supp. 460, at 464 (S. D., N. Y., 1958), and cases cited therein.

- B. When primary jurisdiction applies, the issues for determination are within the exclusive province of the Interstate Commerce Commission.

Where certain issues within an overall controversy must properly be referred to the Interstate Commerce Commission for its determination, the court loses its jurisdiction to hear and decide those issues, and the judicial process is suspended. The sole forum with the power to determine those issues is the agency.

“* * * Whenever enforcement of the claim requires the resolution of issues which, under a regulatory scheme, have been placed within the special competence of an administrative body” (*United States v. Western Pac. R. Co.*, supra, at 64), those issues are “*within the exclusive primary jurisdiction of the Interstate Commerce Commission.*” *Id.*, 63, (Emphasis added).

“The * * * language of the Supreme Court in the *Western Pacific* case is imperative in its effect. It held that as to question of tariff construction and reasonableness of rate as applied, that question ‘was within the *exclusive primary jurisdiction* of the Interstate Commerce Commission.’ * * * The word exclusive means ‘shut out,’ ‘debarring from participation.’ Black’s Law Dictionary notes, ‘These words preclude the idea of co-existence, and mean possessed to the exclusion of others.’” *United States v. Apicella*, 148 F. Supp. 457, 458, (D., N. J., 1957).

See also: *Armour & Co. v. Alton R. Co.*, 312 U. S. 195, 61 S. Ct. 498, 85 L. Ed. 771 (1941); *General American Tank Car Corp. v. El Dorado Terminal Co.*, 308 U. S. 422, 60 S. Ct. 325, 84 L. Ed. 361 (1940); *Great Northern Ry. Co. v. Merchants’ Elevator Co.*, 259 U. S. 285, 42 S. Ct. 477, 66 L. Ed. 943 (1922); *Northern Pacific Ry. Co. v. Solum*, 247 U. S. 477, 38 S. Ct. 550, 62 L. Ed. 1221 (1918); *Northwestern Auto Parts Co. v. Chicago B. & Q. R. Co.*, 240 F. 2d 743,

749 (C. C. A.-8, 1957) ; *United States v. Kansas City Southern Railway Co.*, 217 F. 2d 763 (C. C. A.-8, 1954) ; *Northern Pac. Ry. Co. v. United States*, 213 F. 2d 366 (C. C. A.-8, 1954) ; *Western Oil & Fuel Co. v. Great Lakes Pipe Line Co.*, 210 F. 2d 490 (C. C. A.-8, 1954) ; and *United States v. Alaska S. S. Co.*, 110 F. Supp. 104 (W. D., Wash., 1952).

C. It is immaterial whether the referral is upon instigation of the carrier or the shipper.

Appellant has much to say about the fact that the petition for referral was by the carrier rather than by the shipper. It also makes the unfounded claim that Union Pacific is attempting, by a device, to gain access to the Interstate Commerce Commission (App. Br. 6).

It is not disputed that there is no statute allowing Union Pacific to initiate an original proceeding in these cases before the Interstate Commerce Commission. The Federal statute provides only for actions at law (49 U. S. C. A., Sec. 16 (3)). Nor is it disputed that a shipper has dual initial remedies in actions against carrier for damages (49 U. S. C. A., Sec. 9 and 13). But none of these statutes are concerned with primary jurisdiction.

Since the issues allocated to the Commission under the doctrine are exclusively within its jurisdiction, there is no court of general jurisdiction with the power to hear and decide such issues. Therefore, if the shipper does not ask for the referral, as was the case here, it is the duty of the carrier to do so. Otherwise the mandate of the Supreme Court laid down in the *Western Pacific* case would be ignored, and issues properly allocable to the agency would

remain in the court of general jurisdiction at the whim of the shipper.

This is not a reference for the specific purpose of having the Commission determine the respondent's claim (App. Br., 6) ; it is simply a reference of those issues within the lawsuit which call for the aid of an agency schooled in unraveling the mysteries of tariff construction. In such matters the Commission, under law, has preempted the field.

The Commission's determination will be equally binding on all parties to the suit, and the results may be favorable to shipper, a possibility which appellant has apparently ignored. Both parties are entitled to appear before the Commission to protect their interests and participate in the proceedings. The ultimate result is therefore the same regardless of which party seeks the initial referral.

The question of referral on petition of the carrier came before the court in *United States v. Canfield Drive-away Co.*, 159 F. Supp. 448 (E. D., Mich., 1958). In that case the court readily recognized the holding of the *Western Pacific* case and ordered that the referral be made. At page 455 the court stated:

"In this case, however, it is the carrier, whose charges have been paid in full, who insists that a reference be made. The Court cannot find a spelling out of procedure whereby a carrier situated as the defendant in this case, would initiate a proceeding before the Interstate Commerce Commission. I do not find any decided case in which the application of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction applies, with the procedural background of the case at Bar. Not-

withstanding, however, that there seems to be no well-defined procedural path to follow, if the doctrine of the *Western Pacific* case is to be followed, this Court should not be helpless merely because he does not find a Court rule or procedural statute which gives specific direction as to how to proceed."

The same situation gave no trouble to the court in *Northern Pac. Ry. Co. v. United States, supra*. There the carrier initiated the action and contended on appeal that the trial court could not make a preliminary determination of whether the words in the disputed tariff were used in a peculiar or extraordinary sense. The trial court had made the determination in favor of the shipper and the appellate court reversed, holding that the question was one of fact, which would have to be determined by the Interstate Commerce Commission.

- D. It is immaterial whether the referral in this case is from a state or federal district court, they being both courts of general and concurrent jurisdiction.

The main thrust of appellant's argument in this appeal is based upon the fact that the actions were commenced in the state rather than the federal district court. Appellant claims that referral to a federal administrative agency is beyond what the state tribunal should do voluntarily and, as a matter of law, cannot otherwise do. The reasoning for this argument seems to be: first, it is undesirable to refer because of the reluctance of the state courts to abdicate their jurisdiction; second, reference to an agency outside the scope of the state judicial and administrative system

violates both separation of powers and federalism; and third, the Interstate Commerce Commission has no responsibility to the state court.

It is interesting to note that the doctrine of primary jurisdiction resulted from a state court proceeding. In *Texas & P. R. Co. v. Abilene Cotton Oil Co.*, *supra*, the shipper commenced its action in a state court of Texas to recover damages for excessive freight charges. The reasonableness of the rate was at issue, and the state appellate court held that such issue could be determined by the court even though the rate had been filed and promulgated by the carrier pursuant to the Interstate Commerce Act. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that the uniform application of rates to all required that the sole determination of unreasonableness of rates be vested solely within the Commission. Thus the doctrine of primary jurisdiction was born and a principle established which has not varied since: Whenever the issue before the court involves the question of unreasonableness of a rate, the exclusive primary jurisdiction is in the Commission, and no court, be it state or federal, has the power to proceed. *United States v. Interstate Commerce Commission*, *supra*.

It is apparent from the holding of the *Abilene* case that where issues are within the primary jurisdiction of the Commission, a state court has no jurisdiction. It also illustrates that appellant's argument that state courts are reluctant to give away jurisdiction, is without merit.

A question arose as to whether *Abilene* wholly superseded the concurrent jurisdiction of state courts in inter-

state commerce matters. That problem was solved in *Pennsylvania R. Co. v. Puritan Coal Co.*, 237 U. S. 121, 35 S. Ct. 484, 59 L. Ed. 867 (1915), involving a suit in a state court by a shipper for damages caused by the carrier's refusal to furnish cars. The Supreme Court held that Section 22 of the Act (49 U. S. C. A., Sec. 22), which preserved all common law and statutory remedies, thus allowing suits in state courts, was not superseded by the holding in the *Abilene* case; but the court pointed out that there was no jurisdiction in state, as well as federal courts under Section 9, where the issue involved was the "determination of matters calling for the exercise of administrative power and discretion of the Commission." *Id.*, at 130. Thus the state courts were retained in the operative scheme of primary jurisdiction in the same manner as it applied to federal courts.

In *Great Northern Ry. Co., v. Merchants' Elev. Co.*, *supra*, the problem for decision was tariff construction rather than reasonableness of rates. Here again the action was commenced in a state court of general jurisdiction. The Minnesota trial court construed the meaning of the tariff rather than referring the matter to the Commission, and the Supreme Court affirmed. The issue was: "whether any court had jurisdiction of the controversy, in view of the fact that the Interstate Commerce Commission had not passed upon the disputed question of construction." *Id.*, 290 The court held that the disputed question of construction, being one wholly of law, was properly a matter for the court to make the determination, and therefore referral to the Interstate Commerce Commission was unnecessary. The

jurisdiction to determine matters of tariff construction involving solely questions of law was thus left in the state courts. However, the Supreme Court recognized that whenever extrinsic evidence may be necessary to determine the meaning of words used in the tariff in a peculiar or technical sense, or to establish a usage of trade or locality which attaches provisions not expressed in the tariff, "the preliminary determination must be made by the Commission; and not until this determination has been made, can a court take jurisdiction of the controversy." *Id.*, 292. The meaning of the language is clear: If the state court proceeding had involved tariff construction where preliminary resort to the Commission was necessary, the Supreme Court would have directed the state court to withhold its proceeding until the matter of primary jurisdiction had been concluded. As Justice Brandeis states:

"If this were not so, that uniformity which it is the purpose of the Commerce Act to secure could not be attained." *Id.*, 292.

The cases before the Court on this appeal involve nothing more than the situation described in the *Great Northern* case, requiring preliminary resort and determination by the Commission.

In its development, as the foregoing cases illustrate, primary jurisdiction was applied in two separate fields of interstate transportation: first, in the area of reasonableness of rates, practices and rules, where the jurisdiction of the Commission is also exclusive; and second, in tariff construction, where the jurisdiction of the Commission is

also exclusive, but only where the issue for determination is more than solely a question of law. It is helpful to have this in mind in examining the decisions of state courts confronted with the problem, since the determination of whether the court or the Interstate Commerce Commission should make the initial decision of certain questions, is the same in both fields.

In *T. Mendelson Co. v. Pennsylvania R. Co.*, 332 Pa. 470, 2 A. 2d 820, (1838), shippers attempted to enjoin the carrier from opening packaged perishable goods to determine the nature and extent of damage at the time of delivery, on the grounds that the practice was unreasonable. The trial court denied the injunction on the ground the exclusive jurisdiction was in the Interstate Commerce Commission. In affirming, the State Supreme Court, at page 822, said:

“The court below properly decided that the jurisdiction of the Commission is exclusive in matters of this character. When rules, regulations and practices in interstate commerce are attacked as being unreasonable in their operation, the law provides a forum, the Interstate Commerce Commission, for the settlement of this disputed question. That forum must be resorted to before the courts can interfere. *Great Northern Ry. Co. v. Merchants' Elevator Co.*, 259 U. S. 285, 291, 42 S. Ct. 577, 66 L. Ed. 943. *Though state courts may assume equitable jurisdiction in proper cases, when they attempt to invade a field occupied by Federal control under Federal laws, they will be prohibited from entertaining jurisdiction.* Under the facts as shown by the pleadings, the Interstate Commerce Commission had jurisdiction. Here the duty devolves on the carrier to determine the ‘practice.’ The commission polices the

carriers' rules and practices. It is an administrative matter of which the Commission has special knowledge; a technical problem better left to the initial study of transportation specialists. *The technical nature of the subject, and the peculiar ability of an administrative body to examine it, suffice as a matter of public policy to displace preliminary court action.* * * *” (Emphasis added.)

In *Union Transfer Co. v. Renstrom*, 151 Neb. 326, 37 N. W. 2d 383 (1949), a carrier commenced action for undercharges. The issue was whether the rate for finished or unfinished stampings applied. The shipper claimed the court lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter. However, the court pointed out at page 386:

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